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Bill/Resolution No.: SB 2134

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues

Expenditures

Appropriations

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium 2021-2023 Biennium

Counties

Cities

School Districts

Townships

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

The bill allows a registered qualifying patient to cultivate their own marijuana plants, eliminates the requirement for a 
health care provider to authorize the use of dried leaves or flowers, and allows certain facilities to adopt reasonable 
restrictions on the cultivation of marijuana.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

The bill would require changes to the information technology system, however, the Department feels the cost of 
these changes would be minimal.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

The Department believes the increase in the qualifying patient population would have a minimal impact on projected 
revenue amounts (non-refundable $50 application fee that is deposited into a special fund).

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

The Department believes the cost to complete necessary coding changes to the information system would be 
minimal.



C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

Name: Brenda M. Weisz

Agency: Department of Health

Telephone: 7013284542

Date Prepared: 01/09/2019
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Committee Clerk: Meghan Pegel 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 19-24.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code, relating to cultivation of medical marijuana; and to amend and reenact sections 19-24.1-01, 
19-24.1-03, 19-24.1-11, 19-24.1-32, and 19-24.1-35 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
purchase and cultivation of medical marijuana. 
 

Minutes:                                                 5 Attachments  

 
Chair Larson opens the hearing on SB 2143. 
 
Oley Larsen, District 3 Senator, testifies in favor of the bill 
 
Senator O. Larsen: The intention and history of this bill- we had medical marijuana passing 
the ballot and brought forward to the legislative body. We had a vote of the body to make it 
more favorable for legal reasons. We knew there would be hiccups along the way. At the 
passing of legislation in the Senate, there was a part in which smoking was available in the 
bill. I was always reluctant about that, but when it was offered I was open to allowing smoking, 
but it had to have a fingerprint on it. Currently we can have this product and it can have a 
fingerprint. You have to have your registration card and go to the dispensary to pick it up. If 
someone needs to look at it, you could open that package and see that it is medical 
marijuana. Right now when that piece of packaging is opened, you cannot tell if that is 
recreational, medical, hemp, etc. You can’t tell what it is by just looking at it; it has to be 
inspected with more than just the eye. I want to put forward a floor amendment to just let the 
people grow that have the symptoms that the bill allowed. That’s basically what the bill is. It 
is the same as the floor amendment that was issued. I know that the therapy being used that 
this legislation speaks of is effective. It is one thing they can do. My real concern is the price 
of the product. Last session when it was going through, I remember that doing this therapy 
was very expensive and not covered by insurance. I felt that if someone wants to grow their 
own medical marijuana on their own, that should be okay.  

 
(5:30) Senator Luick: Does this bill allow smoking marijuana? 
Senator O. Larsen: The only people who could are the people who have gotten the card 
and have gone to the physician to say they have those conditions. I believe there is other 
legislation floating around because it’s problematic for folks to have the physician sign off, 
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but that’s another rabbit hole. But yes, if I have my card and I have the condition, I have the 
ability to grow the 9 plants. 
 
Senator Bakke: Page 7 line 3 you’ve crossed out “A health care provider may authorize”. 
Why did you eliminate that directive from the health care provider as to what part of the plant 
is used? 
Senator O. Larsen: If that’s struck from the language, it’s not my intention. Perhaps it’s in a 
different part to make it flower better. 
 
Senator Myrdal: Why 9 plants? 
Senator O. Larsen: That followed the line of the original intent of the bill. That’s a lot, and 
it’s up to the committee what they would want to do with that. In the language, it also says 
you can only have 3 ounces dried material. There’s some massaging that the committee can 
do with that. People interested in it are open to that. I think the main thing is the cost savings. 
I can think of someone with pancreatic cancer. They do not have $8,000 to put out for this 
therapy, so if they can grow a couple of plants instead, they should be able to. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: So there’s two purposes- the growing and then the use of dried 
leaves without having to have the authorization of a healthcare provider? 
Senator O. Larsen: You can’t grow without the card and you still need the relationship with 
the health care provider. That legislation should not change that. The physician needs to 
confirm that the person has one of the 14 conditions. I don’t necessarily think we should 
increase those 14 conditions either 
 
(12:10) Steven James Peterson, Compassionate Care of ND, testifies in favor of the 
bill (see attachment #1) 
 
(15:45) Senator Bakke: Do you know why “health care provider may authorize” is taken out? 
Peterson: I was not involved with the Senator for that drafting. There’s a lot of wet product 
availability for cancer patients. What we saw in California, Colorado and other states is that 
you would have patients juice the raw plant. So they would be clipping from the raw plant 
while it’s still growing and put it into a cold press juice extractor. The reason for the cold press 
is that they don’t want to activate the THCA into a THC. They don’t want the psychoactive 
effect. It’s not all about the dried material. The wet material is actually my primary concern 
when we’re talking about patient growth, so they can do the cold press juicing at home should 
they choose. 

In regards to the 9 plants, the way my committee sees that is that allows for seedlings 
and clones that are immature. They’re not able to be used for medicinal aspect when they’re 
in the vegetative state. You can have 3 clones or seedlings, 3 vegetative state plants. Those 
are non-harvestable at that time. Then you have 3 flowering plants. To get to that flowering 
period takes a minimum of 3 months up to 6 months up to 9 months depending on the 
variation of the plant that you have. It’s our estimation that there are 75,000 patients here in 
the state.  
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(18:50) Dustin Peyer, ND Cannabis Caucus, testifies in favor (see attachment #2) 
Peyer: The only issue is at the end, page 13 line 13 and 14, it says a “a registered designated 
caregiver may not cultivate a plant of the genus cannabis for use by another registered 
qualifying patient”. I believe there will be people not able to grow their own medicine and they 
should be able to select a designated caregiver for them. That falls in line with the 1,000-foot 
rule of the schools. They’re going to need people to grow for them as well. I’m in full support 
of this. By only allowing 9 dispensaries and 2 grow houses, we’ve basically created a 
monopoly and until we have a true, free market, it’s going to be pretty expensive.  
 
(21:10) John Bailey, Compassionate Care of ND member, testifies in favor of the bill 
 
Bailey: I have a few problems with this bill, but I think they’re all workable. We would like to 
see the limits increased for the patients. Some of the storage methods such as freezing them 
before they’re processed, may or may not be a good idea depending on the intention of the 
use of the crop. It’s like a vegetable- some things you can freeze before you process it, other 
things you can’t.  

Page 2 line 9-21 concerning the bona fide patient relationship, there’s better language 
out there and in process now. There’s an easier, cleaner way to satisfy that relationship. It’s 
currently in a House Bill.  

Page 4 line 12- there are a few things here we need to work on. Number one would be 
Arthritis, Rheumatoid Osteoarthritis, Retinitis Pigmentosa, Autism and Ehlers-Danlos 
Syndrome. The numbers are few, but I assure you those patients are just as important.  

Page 5 line 14 talks about the dried leaves and flowers of the plant genus cannabis by 
itself. This is concerning medical cannabinoid products. This would be different than medical 
marijuana. I believe they’re limited to 6% THC content. 
 
Senator Luick: 6% I believe that is for pediatric care. 
Bailey: Correct. I apologize. 
 
Bailey: Page 6 line 29 to page 7 line 6 addresses the doctor’s written opinion and 
certification. Once again there is other language in other bills that simplify this much more. 

Page 7 line 24-26 again deals with the doctor patient relationship. The condition is 
justification. The conditions that are on the approved list and we’re asking to be added are 
not simple conditions that will be healed and go away in a few days. You’re asking for the 
doctor to put a professional opinion on a federally scheduled 1 medicine. There is a big 
problem with doctors doing that. You’re asking them to take too much responsibility with none 
of the authority. Line 27-31 we think that should be removed.  

Page 8 lines 16-19 concerns the Department of Health having access to the medical 
records. Many of us feel this is a HIPPA violation. The DOH has no responsibility in those 
records and therefor they have no authority to ask for those records; that should be between 
the patient and doctor.  

Page 9 line 24-26 again with the healthcare provider and a written certification. We don’t 
have a problem with that per say but again the conditions that it takes to qualify for this are 
not easily ramified. They are long-lasting and in several cases life-ending conditions. The 
expiration or the issuance of a card for less than one year- the only times I can see an 
application for that is in experimental practice.  

Page 13 line 8 with the 1000-foot restriction- None of us want unauthorized children that 
don’t need this type of medicine to have it. We are responsible and were once productive. 
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The 1000-foot limitation would remove the ability to self-grow for a greater number of patients 
than it would allow. Elsewhere in this language, simply to qualify for the card, you are to 
register quite a bit of personal information. You are also to notify the police department before 
you attempt to grow and is to be kept in a locked facility. Line 14 I’m asking for clarification. 
If they are a caregiver, then they are a caregiver of a qualifying patient. Does that mean they 
can’t take another qualified patient and grow for them or that they cannot grow for the patient 
that they are to take care of? We have a lot of people, myself included, who could not properly 
tend 9 plants. 

Page 8 line 1 language is struck I believe as to relieve the doctor from saying that that is 
the only form. I believe that’s between the doctor and the patient and removes that 
qualification on a certification.  
 
(33:20) Mr. Bailey presents testimony (see attachment #3) 
Bailey: All voted for measure 5 and they all passed waiting on medical marijuana. Would 
medical marijuana have saved them? No one could say, but I believe it would have made 
their end days’ quality of life, much better. It would have made their passing easier. 

 
 
(38:08) Chris Nolden, North Dakotan patient, testifies in favor of the bill 
 
Nolden: I understand that everyone’s time is pressed here today; my time is also pressed. I 
stand before you as a patient with 4 qualifying conditions under current law. Doctors are 
scared to certify me. I look at all of the proposed bills; I do what I can with the info that I have 
to fix what I know to be a very broken system. I am here to protect that system. I’m not here 
to discuss responsible adult use, but I am here to fix and save the program we already have 
because the sick people in my position deserve to have this. I didn’t ask to try to cope or deal 
with all of this. This has totally changed my life. I have survived the opioid epidemic.  

My doctors have all told me to move. They have no faith that anybody here can fix it right. 
They have told me for my medical well-being that if I don’t want to end up in a wheelchair or 
dead, I have to leave. I’ve searched the entire united states, all 48 programs that exist in the 
nation and done extensive research on every one to point us in the right direction. I know I 
am standing in support of this bill because it’s bringing what we voted for back with self-grow. 
There is a lot of language issues, but we can fix this.  

William Barr who is looking to be the confirmed AG for the federal government, made a 
statement yesterday that he won’t stand in the way of the Cole memo. He’s pushing for a 
federally fix. We shouldn’t leave in fear anymore. I don’t think the people want to come kick 
down our doors for trying to help the six people. I fear that if our program fails, it will be gone 
forever; there are states that already prove this. No matter what happens in the future 
whether it’s full legalization or not, we have admitted that marijuana has therapeutic value. If 
my only choice is to stay here and die or leave, understand that I’m sacrificing my body to be 
here for the 50-75,000 other people in this state that can use this in a safe way. I believe this 
bill in some level is going to be a critical part of fixing what is wrong.  

Montana has a fairly simple 52-page law and been in place since 2004. I feel my situation 
would be a lot different than it is right now if we had a functional system like they do. Their 
system is based on a plant count per patient. That’s what I’m here to push and what I think 
is the only hope at fixing it. I have data to prove it. Otherwise I think numbers are arbitrary. 
What are the numbers based on? They have to be based on the patient. I also truly believe 
in a caregiver system. Once my body fails I might not be able to grow my own medicine. At 
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that point I want my plant count to go to a reputable caregiver that I trust that will do a good 
job, providing this to me affordably and safely. People shouldn’t be forced to go to the black 
market and risk consuming poison. You don’t know their intentions. The black market is 
dangerous and we need to push to get people into the white market. We need to support this 
for the sick people. I think our universities can be a great help in this- NDSU, UND, Lake 
Region State College. Minot State University already has a program that’s teaching people 
to leave our state related to all of this. It’s a shame- why can’t we be teaching these people 
to go to jobs here? 
 
 
(46:25) Jody Vetter, North Dakota patient, testifies in favor of the bill 
Vetter: As a hobby I completed a certification program in the physiology and health of THC 
and CBD. I’m very interested in growing and juicing raw cannabis. It’s a way to get the desired 
amount of THC and CBD as well as the 100+ cannabinoids in cannabis without the 
psychotropic effects. This is particularly helpful in people with cancer because THC has been 
proven to stop the spread of cancer and shrink tumors. It helps degenerative diseases. It will 
stop the disease from progressing, also helping with pain and mobility. I’m interested in 
home-grow because this is the only way you would be able to juice raw cannabis. You cannot 
go to the dispensary and buy cannabis leaves to juice. This is the way I can consume 
cannabis without the psychotropic effects and continue on with my life. 
 

 
 
(48:45) Darl Brandt, concerned citizen, testifies in opposition to bill 
 
Brandt: With medical marijuana, what we have is fine. The only thing I have against it is 
growing plants. We will have plants growing all over the place; we need control on this. You 
have dispensaries that will grow it and pharmacies that will sell it. If we’re going to do 
something, let’s get a price control so these so people can get it. As far as locations, there’s 
always somebody that can take you there. I have a daughter with M.S. I’m proud of her, she’s 
working herself through it. Let’s keep this controlled that there’s just dispensaries growing it, 
not everybody. I have 3 grandkids and I don’t want this stuff growing all over the place. I’m 
worried about kids. Let’s keep the 1000-foot school mark. We don’t need it that close to 
schools. I want these kids to be protected, not having this stuff growing wide open. 
 
 
(51:20) Jason Wahl, Director of the Division of Medical Marijuana, testifies in 
opposition to bill (see attachment #4) 
 
(59:30) Chair Larson: I’ve heard several times about the length of time it has taken to 
implement this medical marijuana plan. Please speak to this. 
Wahl: In relation to implementation of the program, what I’ve always said since becoming 
involved in the program, is that the DOH is committed to implementing this program in a well 
regulatory manner to ensure the health and safety of the qualifying patients as well as the 
public. Has it been implemented as quickly as people would like? I think you all know the 
answer to that question. What we see from other states, it’s usually an 18 to 24-month 
process from the time that the law is effective to the time that products are available. Our law 
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became effective in the middle of April of 2017. Right now we’re on track to have the products 
being dispensed next month, so we fall right in that 18 to 24-month time period.  

In relation to getting the program up and running, there were a number of things that 
needed to be done such as new administrative code in determining what the Department 
believed were the right regulations under the current guidance at that time from the federal 
government as well as making sure that the products that are being dispensed go through a 
very well regulated testing regime to ensure that they are not obtaining a product that would 
be harmful to them with their medical conditions. We procured 2 different vendors. We had 
to implement a new IT system and had to contract with the laboratory and get them set up. 
We have 2 manufacturing facilities currently registered and growing- one in Bismarck and 
one in Fargo. It has taken a little more time with them in relation to real estate transactions 
and getting their buildings up and ready and to obtain a registration certificate. We went 
through the same thing with dispensaries in regards to taking more time than anticipated with 
them to complete real estate transactions and get their renovation work done.  

A lot went into this. Those are the major ones, and there are a number of other things, 
but I would certainly say that what I’ve seen in relation to getting this program implemented 
is we have been doing what we can to get this program implemented as quickly as possible. 
We haven’t been able to do that without help of a number of different state entities and 
organizations as well. 
 
Senator Myrdal: You said you will monitor the price, that’s not assuring to hear for some of 
these people. Generally, medicine is way too expensive as is. We’re taking advantage of, 
any of us as patients. Monitoring-what does that mean? For those who can’t afford it, are 
there qualifications for that? People have said that doctors are scared to give them a 
certificate. Please comment on this as well. 
Wahl: In regards to pricing when I talk about monitoring, we’ll be able to see what prices are 
being charged to the patients. The way the legislature wrote the law, they provided us in my 
opinion with the right authority to do what was needed to backtrack to determine where that 
price came from as we do have access to all records including accounting records at the 
manufacturing facilities and dispensaries. We will be able to know what expenses actually 
are of both of those entities. We’ll know the wholesale price for manufacturing facility to 
dispensary and the markup percentage dispensaries place on those products in regard to 
pricing.  

We’re able to compare information that is available in other states as medical 
dispensaries in states including Minnesota do provide product and pricing information directly 
on their website. We’ve identified similar states we’d like to compare ourselves to in regards 
to pricing. Their certificate is good for 2 years and they need to go through a renewal process 
with us. If you talk to the manufacturing facilities, they probably would tell you they’ve heard 
me bring this up to them multiple times- that their renewal certificate is contingent on pricing. 
It’s not a specific requirement within the statute, but it is something that we will take into 
consideration.  

Each applicant has a specific plan in their applications that they’ve submitted. We will 
follow through and ensure then that they have information available at a dispensary level in 
regards to those programs so people are aware of them, what forms they use to collect that 
information and that they actually follow through and charge prices accordingly in relation to 
if they’ve offered discount percentages based on certain criteria. 

Health care providers within the state- We began accepting applications from qualifying 
patients and designated caregivers near the end of October. We will print cards tomorrow if 
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everything goes as planned for those who’ve submitted complete applications and gone 
through our review process and have been approved. Are there certain health care providers 
that are unwilling under the current requirements to complete a certification form? Yes. How 
many of them there are? I couldn’t tell you. We’ve heard a lot of different things on what their 
concerns are. We have provided a lot of information to the medical community in regards to 
this program. We do various presentations; we have direct phone calls and contacts of 
physicians and nurses in relation to the program.  

Based on discussions we had with other states and their initial qualifying patient data 
when the program first is getting implemented, they’ve experienced some similar things in 
certain states that kind of have the same criteria in regards to what is on the certification and 
bona fide provider patient relationships. Health care providers are concerned with the 
language in the current law that they need to state in their professional opinion, they believe 
the qualifying patient may benefit from the medical use of marijuana in treating or alleviating 
symptoms in relation to their medical condition. A Sanford representative earlier this week 
provided testimony that Sanford would like that removed and they believed that a number of 
their physicians would be more likely to complete written certification forms then.  

There are also concerns to the current law that it provides state protection but not federal 
protection, and obviously we can’t provide that federal protection. We reached out to the 
industry about this concern. Nobody is aware of a current raid following the requirements of 
a state’s medical marijuana program, but I cannot provide them a 100% assurance. We 
provide physicians assurance that the information in an application is confidential and we do 
not provide a list of health care providers that have signed forms. That’s been beneficial. 
Those health care providers who want to be known of signing forms are going to make it 
known. 
 
(1:10:04) Senator Myrdal: We’ve been told 50-75,000 patients, that seems very large. If you 
started the application process for the certification in October, how many applicants have you 
had? 
Wahl: As far as patient population, I can’t give any concrete numbers in regards to what we 
anticipate under the current laws. Is it going to be 50-70,000? My opinion is no, not under 
the current way the program is structured. Are there 50-70,000 people with those medical 
conditions? Possibly, but I won’t provide any assurance for that. In relation to billing a budget 
for the upcoming biennium, while you don’t see our budget numbers specifically in the 
Governor’s Executive recommendation as we have a continuing appropriation, we still did 
build a budget. We budgeted for revenue and expenditures and in building that, we are 
looking at 2,000 patients by the end of the next fiscal year and by the next biennium, right 
around 4,000 patients. That would put us pretty similar to what we’re seeing in Delaware, 
one of the closer laws in relation to comparing programs. We don’t get a very good apples to 
apples comparison however. We have heard from others in the industry that they think that 
we’ll probably be over 5,000. Some of it relates to how this program rolls out, product 
availability, word of mouth, and health care provider certifying patients.  
 
Senator Osland: How many states have medical marijuana laws as we do and have the 
ability to grow their own? 
Wahl: We are 1 of 33 states in the nation with medical marijuana laws. There are other states 
that don’t have home grow as an option in regards to that. We would need to spend some 
significant time to get that information together. Minnesota and Delaware don’t allow home 
grow, but there are a number of states that do in fact allow it. Plant numbers in those home 
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grow areas do vary, typically you’ll see around 6. I’m told that a specific plant number is 
usually not the way to go, but instead in relation to what stage you’re talking. There’s no 
restrictions on height. If you follow the definition plant that we use under the medical program 
currently, there’s a seed and clone, and until that clone produces its first leaf, it isn’t in our 
system as a plant. Once they cut or harvest that plant, that’s no longer considered a plant. If 
there are no restrictions or additional requirements in this bill, we may struggle at determining 
the amounts. One harvested plant will likely be over that 3oz possession limit. Also 
determining if it’s legal or not legal to do the juicing that was talked about in extraction 
methods. 
 
 
(1:16:15) Donnell Preskey, ND Association of Counties, testifies in opposition  
Preskey: I serve as the executive director for the Sheriffs and Deputies Association. They 
would oppose this bill particularly when describing the volume that can be homegrown. 3oz 
and 9 plants is an awful lot of product. If you want to know more about what they know about 
that, I have 2 sheriffs here today that could share their expertise. 
 
 
Chair Larson closes the hearing on SB 2134. 
 
 
Further testimony by Chris Nolden was emailed after hearing (see attachment #5). 
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A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 19-24.1 of the North Dakota Century 
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Minutes:                                                 2 Attachments 

 
 
Chair Larson calls the committee to order to discuss SB 2134. 
 
Chair Larson: The testimony was quite lengthy from a lot of different people. Let’s discuss 
some things. There are some people from the Attorney General’s office here to give us more 
information. They are not testifying in favor or against. They have information I’ve asked them 
to bring. 
 
Tara Brandner, Assistant Attorney General, neutral party (see attachment #1) 
 
Brandner: I brought a report from the DEA intelligence division that discusses the residential 
marijuana grows in Colorado. It discusses some of the public health and safety concerns that 
arise when marijuana is grown in a residential property.  
 
Senator Osland: You mention about the health issues that arose from people growing their 
own. Could you expand?  
Brandner: I’ll differ that to Louie. 
 
(3:07) Louie David Bjorndahl, Narcotics Task Force, neutral party 
 
Deputy Bjorndahl: We’re a multijurisdictional task force that targets drugs and drug crime 
in our area. When we talk about what a plant can produce, it’s like any agricultural item. 
There are people who can make them flourish and produce quite a bit and others who don’t 
have quite the green thumb as some of the others. In my training and experience over the 
last 14 years dealing with marijuana grows, I’ve seen plants produce an upwards of 20+ 
pounds for one plant. It depends whether it’s grown inside or outside and it can be held in 
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different states such as vegetation or flowering. The photo I saw that produced over 20 
pounds was an outdoor grow plant in Washington. You can have 3oz of dried material and 9 
plants, you almost come to a stage at the end of that plant, when I harvest it and start to dry 
it, I’m already ahead of my 3oz mission in one plant. When you have all of these plants with 
an indoor grow, the heat, humidity and chemicals provide conditions for mold. The DEA did 
a study and found it can be as toxic as meth labs can be because of the mold issues and 
spores produced. Also you’re getting other fungal issues on that plant, there’s no way to 
regulate that.  
 
Senator Myrdal: I have many indoor plants and they are difficult to care for all them. Is it 
reasonable for us to assume that somebody who is very ill is capable of learning how maintain 
these plants and treat themselves without causing high risk? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: It is reasonable for me to believe if you are sick, you should have access 
to any medicine that may make you better. Much of the testimony I heard talked about how 
it is medicine. However, we don’t allow people to manufacture antibiotics in their backyard. 
If you’re going to ingest something, we need to monitor that. Some of the homes I’ve seen 
these in, and granted they are clandestine labs, are not necessarily the conditions I’d want 
to ingest medicine out of. I’m not saying somebody couldn’t do it very well, but will that be 
the exception or the norm? 
 
(9) Senator Bakke: What is the danger for children in this situation, as you say they have 
the same potential of toxicity as meth? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: When I talk about being toxic, we’re talking about the mold spores and 
things like that when you have high humidity inside these homes. When you look at the 
commercial growing operations, they’re clean and manufactured in a way to resist those kind 
of things. Most of our homes are stick built homes in North Dakota and humidity gets behind 
the drywall and attacks the wood. It runs a higher risk of the mold becoming a health issue, 
it’s not necessarily the substance itself.  
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: The purpose of the bill is to home grow. Then you have to have the 
provisions that you can possess or to grow, and that’s all those other provisions that are in 
there. Is that correct? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: From what I understand, it allows the home grow and to possess what 
you harvest, yet it only allows you to keep 3oz of that harvest. If the harvest exceeds that 3oz 
my question is, what happens to it? As far as I understand the other part is it allows a 
caregiver to grow 5 plants for each person they give care to. That means you could have 
possibly 45 plants as a caregiver. 
 
Chair Larson: Can you grow a single plant or does it take multiple ones in order to grow 
properly? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: There are a couple different ways they go about growing marijuana. You 
can buy a clone plant, one that’s basically ready to go. A clone plant isn’t considered a plant 
until it produces a leaf. You can buy that plant and get it to grow and produce. However, if 
you were going to take 2 seeds and plant them, you would need a male and female to cross-
pollinate to help with that. Just like any other agricultural industry, we are constantly designing 
the genomes of the seeds to produce differently. That’s something that could change as time 
went on.  
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(13:20) Senator Luick: What’s the storability of the processed dope? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: It’s like picking a tomato from a vine. As soon as you take that plant from 
the hydroponic grow or dirt, it immediately begins to deteriorate. The THC deteriorates and 
the plant begins to deteriorate as well. Once you store that marijuana., even with that slowing 
process, it degrades very quickly. That was the big drive behind these other processed goods 
in the marijuana industry- How do you get it to be shelf-stable? 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Useable marijuana means medical marijuana product or the dried 
leaves in a combustible delivery form. What does that mean? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: When you process marijuana, not all of it usually gets processed to 
ingest. They’ll process usually the leaves or buds, the fruits of it. That’s usually what contains 
the THC. They’ll dry it so that its more easily lit on fire so they can pull the vapors into their 
lungs and consume it. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: We don’t allow smoking, do we? 
Chair Larson: The constitutional measure that was passed allows smoking, not specified in 
this bill.  
Wahl: Yes, with authorization from the healthcare provider. This bill removes that additional 
authorization. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: “However, the term does not include the dried leaves unless 
authorized”. So you can always smoke if you have that additional authorization? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: Correct.  
 
(16:10) Senator Myrdal: If this should pass, basically a large amount of the efforts of our 
state to comply with this constitutional measure over the last two years and the regulations 
to protect children and others, will be wiped out right when we’re at the cusp of implementing 
it and having product ready. 
Brandner: When the original bill 2334 was considered by the legislative branch last year, the 
concern was what industry calls “the Cole memo”. (see attachment #2) The Cole memo is 
a memo issued by the United States Department of Justice saying that the federal 
government will not expend its resources to prosecute people who are in states that are 
complying with a program that meets certain requirements. The problem is that it was issued 
under the Obama Administration and with the transition to the Trump administration, the 
memo has been rescinded by Jeff Sessions. At this point in time the memo is not currently 
existing. However, from some of my conference calls from attorney generals across the state, 
it seems they are continuing to follow that guidance because they believe it provides them a 
protection. One of the concerns the legislative body had when considering the initiated 
measure in the new legislation, was that one of the priorities of the Cole memo is diversion- 
the diversion of legal substance produced through the medical marijuana program into an 
illegal market. The concern is that they see the most diversion occurring in residential grows. 
The goal removing that by the last legislature was to maintain compliance. 
 
Senator Myrdal: A caretaker is a big concern for me because one can have up to 45 plants 
is what was mentioned. Are there really that many caretakers that will be proficient in growing 
this without compensation of any kind? Do we assume that they will throw away the excess 
marijuana? Is that what you’re alluding to? 
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Brandner: Correct. There is a concern on whether or not it authorizes designated caregivers 
to grow for patients or not. Should this committee go forward with the bill, that language 
needs clarification. 
 
(20:05) Senator Bakke: What do you smoke? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: The leaves and flowers are what you smoke. It would be the stems and 
other things that you would usually discard. 
Senator Bakke: They said something about juicing it. Is that with the leaves and flowers? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: They put it in a commercial juicer.  
Senator Bakke: Is that harmful? 
Brandner: I’m not sure 
 
Chair Larson: There is no FDA stamp of approval or no real medical evidence that this 
works. In the few things that do show to be effective are federally legal. Will the Federal 
Government legalize marijuana products for medical study to find out if this really is medicine, 
or do people just think it does so they say it does? We don’t know that it’s helping anybody. 
Brandner: There is some discrepancy and a bill before the legislature currently to revise the 
definition of marijuana under the controlled substances act. That’s due to the passage of the 
2018 farm bill which essentially said products made from hemp that contain CBD are no 
longer illegal. The definition of hemp is essentially a marijuana plant with THC less than .3%, 
so those plants will not contain the euphoric effects that others will. 
 
Chair Larson: Will it be deregulated for medical study? 
Brandner: I’m not sure. There is one report that was done by an institution where they just 
scrap the surface of the testing. It goes through whether or not there is any correlation 
between the use of marijuana and various conditions. A lot of what came out of that report is 
that essentially marijuana has a pretty detrimental effect on the developing brain of a child. 
I’m a lawyer not a pharmacist, so I can’t go into many of the details. However, there are 
prescription grade products that contain CBD such as epidyiolex and sativex. Those contain 
CBD and have gone through the process. It’s my understanding that they don’t contain THC. 
Another one that is available through a prescription is marinol, primarily prescribed for cancer 
patients. That contains both CBD and THC. 
 
Chair Larson: These are drugs that doctors can legally prescribe?  
Brandner: Correct. 
 
Senator Bakke: It is my understanding that marijuana isn’t a cure, but instead lessons the 
pain and makes the person more comfortable. It also helps children with seizure disorders. 
However, I worry about long-term effect on people because we haven’t had enough time to 
know what that looks like. In many cases, these people are terminal and it’s simply to make 
their end of life more comfortable, but not necessarily there to cure anything. 
Brandner: Correct. There is no scientific evidence at this point that says that marijuana is a 
cure for any of the debilitating medical conditions. I’ll note that with children who suffer with 
seizures, oftentimes the research, which was with epidyolex, has shown that they receive 
more benefits from the CBD, the non-euphoric substance in marijuana. What the law does is 
restrict the amount of THC that a child can have in their products to 6%, trying to mitigate 
some of the damage that THC can potentially cause. 
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(27:25) Jason Wahl, Division of Medical Marijuana 
 
Jason Wahl: Since taking over the Director program, the term “medicine” has come out of 
the division’s vocabulary. I have taken a lot of grief from patient advocacy groups for making 
this statement- We have a division of medical marijuana and we have a medical marijuana 
program. We do not call marijuana dispensed under this program “medicine”. The legislature 
did not change the term marijuana to medicine; it is still marijuana and a federally illegal drug. 
Is it the same marijuana you buy on the street? It’s marijuana. However, ours has been tested 
and should be safe for individuals to use. We can tell you the THC and CBD level and it’s 
gone through the testing. Street marijuana is different.  
 
Chair Larson: It’s safe to use? 
Wahl: It has been tested to be safe from harmful contaminates in regards to that. There are 
still side effects to marijuana that need to be discussed with patients and that is the 
dispensaries’ role in this program. Prior to dispensing, they have to have a consultation with 
that patient. They have to understand and know what the medical condition is that they have 
and their symptoms. They then offer and try to match up the best product type to them and 
have a discussion about the potential side effects that they may have. We have forms 
established requiring people to fill out for adverse effects and we try to track cases like that. 
 
(29:55) Senator Myrdal: I think we should allow you to finish out the program and dispense 
of it safely as you discuss it. I didn’t vote measure nor for the bill last time. Yes, there are sick 
people, but is it your opinion that a lot of this backlash we’re getting and why it’s such a 
sensitive issue in our state is because there are people who really just want to grow it and 
smoke it for no medical reasons? 
Wahl: The passion that individuals show within the state in order to obtain products is 
certainly there. Where that passion comes from and what their intent is I couldn’t answer that. 
I know there are sick individuals who are waiting to obtain the products, and we certainly 
want them to have it with the program implemented. Once it is implemented, there will still 
be complaints in regard to access, products, availability, pricing, etc. We’ll take it how it 
comes and try to adjust and modify to make the program as successful as we can. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Please explain CBD and THC. 
Wahl: THC is the psychoactive part of marijuana and it gives you the high, the euphoria. 
CBD does not give you a high. They’re starting to see that in some cases people are seeing 
benefits of CBD in appetite and overall health as being beneficial. There are thousands of 
studies out there on marijuana and there will continue to be studies. When you talk about 
CBD, you have to be careful that it not contains any THC. What I’ve been told by counterparts 
in other states testing products is that there is a lot of THC in supposedly CBD only products. 
The CBD label is not even close to what’s in the bottle and in some cases, they’re testing 
and finding no CBD at all and it is basically water. That is obviously very concerning. Under 
our program, CBD products would become available, but we’ll make sure it does not exceed 
the 6% THC. You’ll probably see more 1 to 1 ratios of CBD to THC, like 10% and 10%, that 
is becoming more popular in the medical area where people are seeing more benefits from 
those types of products. More of the recent studies start to see that the CBD that your body 
is taking in actually needs some THC to make CBD work in your body the way they want it 
to. 
 



Senate Judiciary Committee  
SB 2134 
1/16/2019 
Page 6  
   

Vice Chairman Dwyer: Is CBD from marijuana? 
Wahl: Yes, CBD and THC are cannabinoids in marijuana. There are a lot of cannabinoids in 
marijuana; these are the two main ones.   
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: We’re still acting on the measure, so it takes a 2/3 vote correct? 
Bradner: The bill passed initially as an initiated measure. The measure came in and it was 
hog house amended in the end. There was a question as to whether or not the law would 
require 2/3 vote to pass. The Attorney General issued an opinion that says that in order for 
anything that is amending the marijuana statute to go forward and become law, it needs a 
2/3 vote. 
 
(37:40) Senator Bakke: How is the average person growing 9 plants going to be able to tell 
how much THC and CBD is in their plants? Isn’t there a danger in not knowing what you’re 
getting? 
Bradner: they won’t know. 

 
Senator Osland: Jason- This morning you alluded to the fact that there’s difficulty for people 
to get the cards from medical professionals. Please elaborate. 
Wahl: The health care providers, which under current law are licensed, state physicians or 
an advanced practiced registered nurse, complete a written certification form as part of the 
patient’s application that is submitted to us. It’s an online application. The health care provider 
identifies the medical condition and how long they believe that condition is going to last. They 
attest to certain statements and electronically sign that piece. We review it and do some 
verification work, approve it, then issue them the card. We’re actually printing cards 
tomorrow.  

Some health care providers are not willing to complete the written certification form. Some 
are completely against marijuana and will never sign the form no matter what we do or say. 
That’s their opinion and we respect that. Some have apprehension to complete the form 
because it is still a federally illegal drug. The law requires a statement that “In my professional 
opinion, I believe that patient will benefit from the medical use of marijuana to treat or alleviate 
the medical symptoms”. There is a current HB that is removing that language. We’re not 
going to oppose that. Healthcare providers may be in a position where they don’t have 
enough information to make the determination. They didn’t get educated on marijuana in 
school. Sanford believes that removing the language, a number of their physicians will be 
more open to a completing a written certification form. They’re protected in part with the Cole 
memo, but the rescinding of the memo had a negative impact. Some are waiting to see how 
the program roles out as well. Every week we’re getting more health care providers into the 
system. We’re seeing slow progress.  
 
Chair Larson: Can one physician refer to another? 
Wahl: They certainly could. A patient has the right to seek the best medical care they believe 
they deserve. They can find another physician and establish that care if that would be 
necessary. There are certain providers that flat out said their providers will not sign the form 
or they risk being fired. There is one here in Bismarck that has made that statement publicly. 
However, if one of their healthcare providers ignored what the facility administration said and 
signed a form, we would keep it confidential.  
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(44:32) Senator Luick: What is the life expectancy of a plant? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: You plant it and when you harvest it, you end its life cycle. There are 
some ways they’re working with right now to try to get a better yield out of the plant by 
continuously grooming it; however, they’ve found that depending on the stages, the life cycle 
ends roughly when it’s completed. 
 
Senator Luick: Do we have a long enough growing period to grow outside in the state? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: I believe you can set up a greenhouse; it would be no different than the 
manufacturing plants that are providing for the program now. 
 
Senator Bakke: In your personal opinion, do you see this need to grow it privately in their 
homes simply as a financial issue?  
Wahl: If it’s truly for a medical purpose, shouldn’t they want to know what the CBD amount 
is and that it’s not containing a harmful contaminate? 
 
Chair Larson: I’m thinking about limiting this to only homes that the person owns. It will 
destroy rental property.  
 
(49:43) Shawn McNamara, Attorney General Legislative Intern, neutral party 
McNamara: For home grow- we’re seeing a lot of problems in rural North Dakota with 
counties that don’t have any physicians or lawyers. This bill would help those people have 
access to the products that they might otherwise not. Travelling can be a substantial burden 
on these sick individuals. 
 
Wahl: He is correct and we took that into consideration when setting up the dispensary 
regions. Typically, the people with conditions have medical appointments. That is why we 
have the designated caregiver option. We also have a home delivery option available for 
dispensaries, a new addition in this industry. We’re still working on how many will offer that 
and how far they will go. Obviously there will be a price factor involved, but we’re trying to do 
the things we can within the requirements of the law to try to make that accessible.  
 
Senator Osland: Are the supporting people for home grow trying to find permission for what 
they are already doing? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: I wouldn’t necessarily say that. I assume it is permission for something 
that they want to do, whether it’s a way for medication or for diversion possibilities. It’s 
irrelevant either way. They want to be able to get this at a reduced price, make and cultivate 
the plant the way they want, and use it the way they want. They don’t want the regulation. 
 
Senator Myrdal: If I’m smoking and sick at a farm in Mayville today, what is the likelihood of 
law enforcement arresting me? 
Deputy Bjorndahl: I am the assistant coordinator of the metro area narcotics task force. We 
are 8 members, state and local, that combat drugs on both sides of the river. If someone 
came to me right now and told me they know where there is a weed grow, it probably wouldn’t 
be our top priority. We’ve had multiple overdoses in the last 2 weeks, executed search 
warrants because of that, and targeted many pound level traffickers of methamphetamine. It 
is illegal so when I do a search warrant and it’s there, I don’t have a choice, we enforce the 
law. However, I can tell you we are not targeting people that bring that kind of stuff here. We 
have other epidemics that are really tearing up our community right now that we are targeting. 
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I’m not saying you couldn’t get in trouble for that, I’m saying we as a task force would not 
target that. 
 
Chair Larson: We will close this for now and bring it up again next week so we can make 
the best decisions. I believe the people who were here advocating for this have a firm belief 
that this will help them alleviate pain and suffering for themselves or their loved ones; their 
intent is good. It’s smart for us to tread carefully and pray for God’s wisdom for us to make 
the right choices in the legislation. 
 
Chair Larson ends the discussion on SB 2134. 
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Minutes:                                                 No Attachments 

 
Chair Larson calls the committee to order to discuss SB 2134.  
 
Chair Larson: I asked a realtor I know personally if there’s a problem with homes with 
marijuana growing in it. He told me that the amount of humidity in growing marijuana plants 
that it takes, creates black mold. In Minnesota, they have a law prohibiting the sale of a house 
that has been used to grow marijuana. We’re not considering that at this point, but I think if 
we start looking at growing marijuana in private homes that can’t be in any way regulated, 
we’re going to be opening a huge can of worms.  
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: The legislature wrestled with this 2 years ago. The Health 
Department has spent almost 2 years and it may be a serious mistake to have this major 
change and setback what the Department is doing. 
 
Senator Osland: I agree. We’ve got this far and we don’t need to make adjustments at this 
time.  
 
Senator Bakke: I have concerns about this bill. They have no way of knowing the potency 
of the marijuana that they will be smoking and it can be more harmful than helpful. This idea 
that they have to travel so far to get the marijuana is not an issue because it was said that it 
can be mailed. And the pure amount of marijuana that you get off of 9 plants- what are they 
doing with the excess? I can’t support this bill. 
Chair Larson: Yes, the proponents didn’t know what they would do with the excess. 
 
Senator Myrdal: It’s clear that all of us have compassion for those who testified and were ill. 
It was quite emotional to listen to. However, I concur with Vice Chairman Dwyer- let’s give 
the state a chance to fulfil the will of the people through that measure from 16. I think we’ve 
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done a phenomenal job and sometimes the internet warriors and the desire for recreational 
marijuana is sadly loud in our state. I recently wrote an article in my local papers that this is 
a divisive issue. I was told by a constituent that it’s not divisive, we voted for it. Yes, we voted 
for medical marijuana and that has to be controlled like any other drug. My concern is that 
the pharmacy empires are really putting us in a difficult position by overpricing medication. I 
fully see the need of these people, but I don’t think we can go down this road. I’ve seen it in 
Colorado. We need to trust our health officials here to do the right thing for the right people. 
But again, that doesn’t mean we’re not compassionate for those who are hurting. I’m going 
to vote No. 
 
Chair Larson: If anything legally is going to be done about marijuana, what should happen 
is that the federal level should loosen up the restrictions to allow for some study to be done 
so that a pharmaceutical company could produce it if the FDA finds that there are some truly 
good, medicinal reasons for it. Apparently there already are a couple that they’ve identified 
and legalized for sale. But to just go ahead because somebody believes this will be their 
answer, is a dangerous thing for us to do. I’m in agreement with the rest of the committee. 
 
Senator Osland: Moves a Do Not Pass. 
Senator Bakke: Seconds. 
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 6 Yeas, 0 Nays, 0 Absent. Motion carries. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer will carry. 



Senate Judiciary 

2019 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE 
ROLL CALL VOTES 

BILL/RESOLUTION NO. 2134 

D Subcommittee 

Amendment LC# or Description: 

Date: 1/22/2019 
Roll Call Vote: 1 

Committee 

-----------------------
Recommendation: D Adopt Amendment 

D Do Pass IZI Do Not Pass D Without Committee Recommendation 

Other Actions: 

D As Amended 
D Place on Consent Calendar 
D Reconsider 

D Rerefer to Appropriations 

D 

Motion Made By Senator Osland Seconded By Senator Bakke 

Senators Yes No Senators 
Chair Larson X Senator Bakke 
Vice Chair Dwyer X 
Senator Luick X 
Senator Myrdal X 
Senator Osland X 

Total 

Yes No 
X 

(Yes) 6 No 0 ----------- ---------------
Absent 0 ------------------------------
Floor Assignment Vice Chairman Dwyer 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 



Com Standing Committee Report 
January 22, 2019 2:43PM 

Module ID: s_stcomrep_ 12_008 
Carrier: Dwyer 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2134: Judiciary Committee (Sen. 0. Larson, Chairman) recommends DO NOT PASS 

(6 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2134 was placed on the 
Eleventh order on the calendar. 

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_stcomrep_ 12_008 



2019 TESTIMONY 

SB 2134  

 

 

 

 

 

 



• 

North Dakota Senate Judiciary Committee 

January 16th 2019 

Chairwoman Diane Larson and members of the Committee, my name is Steven 

James Peterson of The Committee for Compassionate Care of North Dakota. 

The Committee for Compassionate Care is a patient advocacy group seeking to 

enable fair and reasonable access to medical marijuana in the state of North 

Dakota. 

I am in support of Senate Bill 2134 

� The ability of home growing cannabis by patients is extremely important to 

our low income and fixed income patients 

� Many of our state patients cannot afford the physical toll of travel to 

dispensaries and the costs of the products being sold there 

� Home growing cannabis by patients allows those who are in the far flung 

corners of the state to be self sufficient 

� It is therapeutic for many of these patients to grow their own as that allows 

them during this time to feel in control of their destiny while coping with 

cancer and other conditions that lead to possible death 

� Many medical marijuana program states allow the sale of seeds and 

immature plants for patients to raise themselves 

My only concern is 

� The 1000 foot restriction prevents many patients who live inside of that 

range of school zones from growing. I live within 1000 feet of a school zone. 

� Since law enforcement notification is required this should be left to the 

discretion of the jurisdiction (sheriff or police) to allow variances on a case 

by case basis. 

� Most of the law enforcement agencies I have interviewed are not opposed 

to removing the 1000 foot rule. 

I am available for any questions about this bill. 

Steven James Peterson, District 44 Fargo North Dakota 

701-936-4362 Steven@ravenrisingllc.com 



• I AM in full support of self grow as 
many will not have means to travel 
to dispensaries. It is also about 
having medicine on demand. I 
would suggest changing the 1000 
foot rule from schools as many will 
be disqualified from self grow . 

• Dustin Peyer 
District 28 
ND Cannabis Caucus 
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I am not a drinker, smoker, never used "weed". I am a mother, a wife, and a business 

owner. Here is why I am voting yes t then do your research and find your reason why: 

I have a liver disease and was given high levels if dilaudid. After 9 months they finally 

switched me to fentanyl in 2012 I am still on them. I am so dependent that the 3 day 

patch can not last 3 days and the doctors have me switch the patch in 48 hours instead 

even though the box from the manufacture says it is to be used for 3 days. I was also 

placed on pm hydrocodone (another opioid) to help if I have daily pain a normal person 

would take Tylenol for but for me would be a placebo. 

Everyday I hear of people dying from the legal-for-me drug. I have to carry narcan with 

me. I had to show my kids how to use it on me because of the legal-for-me drug I am on 

that they are told are bad. I have to face the worst of 2 evils: be on opioids so my nerve 

damage doesn't cause heart palpitations t continue to damage my liver OR save my 

liver and not be on opioids causing damage to my heart. 

I have been waiting for MM to be put in place and nothing ... 2+ years more damage to 

my body in the catch 22 I live daily. 2+ years of seeing the way my teenage looks when 

he sees me on the necessary evil he knows I could easily OD on t may have to save 

mom. I am for this measure so I do not have to continually wait for them to make getting 

MM harder for me. I am voting for this because I am tired of being high on opioids 

24/7 ... think about that. I am HIGH ON OPIOIDS 24/7 and I am still ALLOWED to drive? 

(Which I do not do if I can help it and wait for my husband to drive me). People who 

oppose are worried about people being high driving ... they do not realize that they 

probably already are high on opioids! They are worried about me being addicted when I 

am already legally addicted by being doctor prescribed dependency. I would rather have 

MM then the devil I am dancing with now. 

Tamara Barz 

District 31 

ND Cannabis Caucus 
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Chairman, committee members, 
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My name is Waylon Pretends Eagle, I am a triple winner of citizenship of not only this already 
Great State, but i am also an enrolled citizen of the Mandan, Hidatsa and Arikara Nation and I 
also reside in District 31 and 4 at times. Family and clanship ties keep us together on Fort 
Berthold and we have been moving in large numbers to this urban environment we call 
Bismarck today. I am here today to show support for SB 2134, with a few notable changes. 

Our people were horticulturalists prior to European contact so I'll spare you the quotes from 
non-Indigenous leaders with regard to rights and men and what not. Because i stand before 
you a whole man today - 150 years ago, the thought process wasn't exactly equality and that's 
all I will say about our Great History. Today I want to talk about a natural plant that has been 
given a bad reputation for the last 82 years thanks to the henchmen of rich white men with one 
thing in mind - profiteering. As a result our laws have been written to demonize an entire plant 
with medicinal properties of which the research has not been allowed to happen here in the 
already Great United States. It would be a travesty to keep with the archaic language that 
made the cannabis plant illegal. 

Each and every possible patient has their own individual needs, and in most medical cannabis 
states, dosage is based on those individual needs. Some patients may not get the right amount 
of medicine should the overgeneralized limitations currently set forth in the bill be allowed to 
remain. Any real or measurable analysis of data has been curtailed due to federal and state 
lawmakers' paralysis to act on the matter. Limiting the amount of medical cannabis available to 
patients would be too broad and over-reaching in terms of patient privacy and could possibly 
be unconstitutional. 

Measurable results for dosages and have not been available to this point due to the state and 
federal limitations that have been imposed upon this medicinal plant and industry that 
surrounds it. As a result, we need to be able to have more access which will prove the efficacy 
and provide the necessary data to support more research, and provide a safe route and 
Federal protection for doctors to recommend cannabis to their patients. 

With regard to edible cannabis products, it would be counter-productive to omit this form of 
usable cannabis as some people are unable to ingest through combustible means. Under these 
circumstances, oral ingestion is a more comfortable and natural method of receiving the 
medication. These are some of the changes that I see would be of benefit to our entire STATE, 
and it is with the best of intentions that I submit this testimony. 

Sincerely, 

Waylon Pretends Eagle, Owner 
Xhoshga Consulting, LLC 
waylon@xhoshga.com 
701-805-6310 m. 
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I am in support of the home grow for medical Cannabis patient card holders! There are many of 

us have a debilitating conditions to get a medical marijuana card yet can't and we're still trying to find 
doctors to help us along with that process. I know patients in my condition will not be able to take the 
long drives to go get the medicine to help us live with a higher quality of life. I can only spend about two 
hours in a car before I'm in a lot of pain and there are many others like me! I also am on disability and 
only get $500 a month to support myself and my three children. I do get a little bit of food assistance in a 
very small amount of child support, but it is barely enough to make ends meet, so on top of cost of the 
medicine (whatever that may be, we still have no idea what that looks like, but with only 2000 plants 
allowed in state, I am expecting the price to be out of my range, such as $400 for 1 ounce, and 1 ounce 
MIGHT last 2 weeks for me}, the gas money, and time it will cost to drive to get it it is not really feasible 
in my circumstances. 

There are a few issues I have with the biU that I have brought up about other bills when I was at 
the capitol to testify. I don't think that the department of health needs our entire medical records I MV@ 
probably four 4n thick three ring binder's full of medical records from the last four years. I was in a CM 
accident October 19 of 2014 and I have seen 56 different doctors in that amount of time. I have allO 
been to Mayo in Rochester Minnesota three times for surgeries, but been there numerous times tor 
appointments! Many of my conditions I don't think the department of health would even understand the 
terms that are used for what happened with some of my surgeries and conditions! I feel a doctor 
certifying that you have a certain condition should be enough for the department of health to make their 
decisions on granting your medical card! 

I'm also not totally sure the physicians around here are educated enough on medical Cannabis 
to keep a record and know what to recommend for you, that's also part of what makes the Doctors 
reluctant to even help us with the medical application. I think that should be left up to the dispensary 
agents who DO have the Cannabis knowledge for you to explain your symptoms to them and they can 
make recommendations as to what you should be using or what amount you should be using to help 
ease your symptoms! 

The one other thing that I would ask to be removed, but not sure if it's possible! I don't like or 
think the distance from the school should matter, a lot of us are in a home by a school even my kids are 
around much more dangerous medications that I'm on now which I already keep locked up and keep it 
safe from them! So I think if ifs growing it in a locked room inside your house I don't think there is any 
reason why we shouldn't be able to provide ourselves with safe medication just because we live next to a 
school, ifs not like any of us are giving any of our medication to school kids when we already have to 
keep our current medications locked up and away from children! How many houses have a liquor cabinet 
right next door to a school? 

I actually see neighbors in the spring that sit out on their porch and will drink alcohol while 
school kids are walking right past them going home so I don't see why something that is used as 
medication and locked in our house Plus in a locked room keeping it safe and away from other kids and 
our own kids! Our location shouldn't be held against us in anyway because it's no different than other 
medication at that point we are using it for our own relief! Another thing is there are very limited places 
that are in town and that far away from a school, that rule not to grow within certain distances of a school 
would pertain to half of in town people or at least close to half of residential people! 

I have addressed other concerns about the language of this bill as well as provided a full and 
complete history of the reason I am seeking medical cannabis in my testimony for House Bill 1283. I 
urge you to listen to my testimony please and thank you. 

Other than those items I am in favor of being able to grow our own medicine if possible rather 
than spending money, in my case money from Medicaid, that pays for all these medications I could be 
getting off of or at least on a much reduced amount! I would think a large majority of us who qualify under 
the conditions listed cannot work and are on disability with limited income on Medicaid so we can't travel 
far and pay extreme prices for a medicine that is much safer for us than what we are currently taking! 
Medical Cannabis also has almost no side effects! The side effects are much of what eventually cause 
death from our current medications! 

It would actually save the Medicaid health care program a lot of money if we were allowed to 
grow our medicine and not have Medicaid pay for so many pharmaceuticals that could be replaced or at 
least reduced to a much smaller amount without our health and life being risked! I do not think our 
location should be held against us. If it is in our house, in the safe, in a locked room, there should be no 

I 
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reason our location should have any effect on us being able to provide our own safe medicine, to lower S B 1.-13 L-{ our cost, saving the state money, and allowing us to still pay our bills along with providing our own safe 

'/1 lJ, pa� t- 6" alternative medication! 

Thank you for your time and consideration on this bill! To some of us it would mean getting a 
large portion of our life back with a better quality of living for us and our families! 



To whom it may concern, 

My name is Leslie Hulbert. I live in District 29 Carrington, ND. I have been married for 29 years, 
have raised children, own multiple homes, and operate a business as well. I also have end stage liver 

disease. 

I was diagnosed with my condition in 2004. I spent a month in the hospital and my family was 

told twice to go home and make arrangements for me because I would not be leaving the hospital alive. 

I was Immediately placed on a transplant l ist, in the hopes that an immediate transplant would save me. 

My doctors and I decided it would be best for me to go home and spend my last days with my family 
instead of in the hospital accruing more debt. I remained on the list for 10 years yet never received a 
l iver. 

After I went home my family and I starting doing intense research, we looked for ANYTHING that 
could help. I followed my doctor's orders to a T and also began using cannabis medicinally. Slowly, VERY 
slowly, I began to feel better. My medical team was astounded. My doctor even wrote an artide about 
my case. 

Since moving to North Dakota, I have not been able to continue any cannabis therapy. My l iver 

is stil l in very bad condition, I am still very ill. I get by but it is difficult. I am on 14 different prescriptions, 
and have outlived my doctor's expectations by 3X. I have been able to raise my children, enjoy my 
family, participate in my community, and recently became a grandmother. I am hoping for another 25 
years, but I know I don't have a chance of that without access to cannabis therapy. 

Thank you for your consideration, 

Leslie 
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To Whom It May Concern; 1/10/2019 \/ l (� p�e, 1 

In 1970 my Mom was diagnosed with Retinitis Pigmentosa (RP) which causes blindness. In 1976 

She was told by her Doctor She would be blind in 6 years. I was 12 at the time and thought about what 

that meant. She would Never see me graduate High School. She would Never see me graduate 

Collage. She would Never see me get married. She would Never see her Grandchildren. She would 

Never drive again. She would Never read another book. The list of Nevers was endless. 

The research began to find a cure for her. We did not find a cure but found a handful of studies that 

showed positive results treating RP with cannabis. By this time I was a little older and knew her light 

was dimming. We found a clean safe source for cannabis and treatment began. Her disease slowed. In 

fact it slowed so much She Did see me graduate High School and Collage. She Did see me get married, 

and She Did see her Beautiful Grandchildren, all 6 of them. She travelled to Europe a few times. 

Went back to College and earned 2 degrees. She learned to read and right Braille. She taught pottery 

for 4 years at Braille Institute. She was the Treasure for 2 years and President 1 year of the Local 

Chapter National Federation for the Blind. She traveled to Washington DC and Lobbied for accessibility 

for visually impaired. 

Unfortunately I lost my incredible Mom a few years ago. She passed away with an extra 42 years of 

vision. She effected big change in the lives of many with low vision or no vision, teaching, serving her 

community, and lobbying. 

Best of all She was able to see her Children and Grandchildren grow-up and become the people she 

always dreamed they would be. 

CANNABIS MADE ALL THIS POSSIBLE. 

Thank You for your consideration, 

Leslie Hulbert, Carrington N.D. District 29 



l 

tt 2 

'S e,  2- 1 3 '1  
To whom it may concern, 

My name is Amy Bailey and as of January 16th of 2019 I am 39 years old and have been a 
home owning, tax paying, voting resident of District 29 for 7 years. I am a wife, a mother, and a child of 
adoption. I was adopted due to the fact that I was born to a physically abusive situation. I was brought to 
the hospital at 7 months old with a twisted beak of my left leg. In the course of the investigation my 
biological mother was diagnosed with post-partum depression and I was placed in foster care while she 
sought treatment I was remanded to her care and something else occured and I was again placed in 
foster care, at this point the exact details become fuzzy but the fact is, I spent the next four years of my 
life going back and forth between my biological mother and one particular foster family. When I was four 
years old my biological mother was intercepted by her sister while in the act of chasing me around with a 
hammer and the intent to kill me. It was at this that my biological mother was diagnosed with 
Schizophrenia and I was officially adopted. 

I finnly believe I began life with PTSD. It is my normal. Of course it took many years of child 
hood counseling and psychiatric care for me to realize this. I was also diagn� with ADD when I was 
about 12 years old. It is a real thing I assure you. In fact, I know many people with these conditions 
faking being well. I have been presaibed many medications for these things over the years and I have 
also used Cannabis at many points in my life. 

At this point i feel it necessary to point out that the plant we are talking about already has a 
name. We don't really need to go trying to reinvent the wheel here. The plant in question is cannabis 
Sativa, an annual herbaceous flowering plant indigenous to eastern Asia but now of cosmopolitan 
distribution due to widespread cultivation. It has been cultivated throughout recorded history, used as a 
source of industrial fiber, seed oil, food, recreation, religious and spiritual moods and medicine. Each part 
of the plant is harvested differently, depending on the purpose of its use. The species was first classified 
by Carl Linnaeus in 1753. As defined on Wikipedia 
(source:https://en.wikipediaorg/wiki/Cannabis_sativa). Please take a moment to truly educate 
yourselves on this plant 

Further, when speaking of Cannabis as a "gateway drug", I think we need to look at the picture 
with a much broader scope. Many individuals who have addiction issues begin seeking self medication 
due to some personal trauma they have experienced. Many tum to alcohol, others tobacco, and some to 
Cannabis. Many who start with tobacco and alcohol eventually find Cannabis. When they do, many times 
they find themselves in trouble with the law, and many it will be for no other reason than possession of 
Cannabis or "Cannabis paraphernalia", and, when they do, often they find themselves under the 
oversight of a probation officer who requires regular urine analysis. 

It is a known fact that Cannabis is retained in the fats of the body and detectable by urine 
analysis for an extended period of time while many illicit drugs wash out of the same systems in a very 
short time and are not then detectable by urine analysis therefore it is easier for the user to escape 
detection. 

That leads these individuals who are self-medicating to seek these compounds which are in-fact 
very physically addictive and will cause said addicts to require hospitalization in order to detoxify their 
system if they choose to seek treatment for the addiction. How many people actually need intensive 
medical care to quit using Cannabis? It is in fact the very fact that Cannabis is federally illegal causing 
the addiction issues we are seeing across the nation. How many more lives must be ruined? How many 
more people need to die before we open our eyes and admit that we were lied to 70 years ago and we 
have in fact caused many of our own problems along the way? For cripes sake it is a plant! ! ! ! !  It cannot 
be manufactured in a lab. It must be grown from a seed. Can you show me a hydrocodone seed? How 
about a methamphetamine seed? Heroin seed? Lisinopril seed? 

Let me guess, you are going to say "Ah-Ha! I gotcha! Tobacco grows from a seed!" Yes, it does 
and tobacco also dries dead and brown where as Cannabis dries green and sappy like many other herbs 
I can think of, such as parsley, oregano, basil, sage, comfrey, thyme, and the list goes on. Let's all use 
some common sense here. Let's think for ourselves and not let greedy dead men such as John D. 
Rockefeller continue to affect our way of thinking. 

If you have any questions I can be reached at 701-435-2959 or 701-368-1 337 as well as e-mail 
at comm4care@gmail.com. I aslo suggest reading up on the endo-cannabinoid system at 

https://www.ncbi.n!m.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2241751/ Which is of course the 
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Dakota I Hea lth 

Be Legendary.'" 

Senate B i l l  2 1 34 

J udicia ry Committee 

January 1 6, 20 1 9  

Good morn i ng Cha i r  La rso n  a nd mem bers of the J ud ic i a ry Comm ittee .  

My name is Jason Wah l ,  D i recto r of  the Div is i on  of Med ica l Ma r ij u ana  wit h i n  

the  Department of Hea l th .  I a m  here to oppose and  p rov id e i nfo rmat io n  o n  

Senate B i l l  2 1 34 rel ated to p roposed cha nges to l a ng uage with i n  the M ed i ca l 

M a r ij u ana cha pter of state l aw. 

The majo r  cha nges to state law i n c l uded i n  the b i l l  re l ate to the  

a uthorizati on  of  reg iste red q u a l ify i n g  pat ie nts to  g row the i r own ma rij u a na 

p l a nts .  Cu rrent ly, reg istered qu a l i fy i ng  pat ients a re o n ly a uthorized to 

pu rchase d r ied l eaves and f lowers a nd  ma rijuana  p roducts at a reg i stered  

• 
d is pensa ry. The b i l l  wou l d  a l l ow u p  to n i n e  l ive p l a nts a nd a utho rize a 

reg iste red qua l ify i ng  pat ient to possess th ree ou nces of se lf-g rown d ried 

l eaves o r  flowers .  We oppose these changes to l aw fo r severa l reasons; most 

reasons d i rect ly re l ate to the hea l th  a nd  safety of the q u a l i fy i ng  pat ients a s  

we l l  a s  t he  pub l ic .  

U nder  Senate B i l l  2 1 34, there a re no req u i rements or reg u lat ions  re l a ted 

to the test i ng  of se lf-g rown ma rij u a na .  Th us, q u a l i fy i ng  pat i ents with certa i n  

med ica l  cond it ions a re a t  ri s k  o f  consu m i ng  ma rij u ana that  may conta i n  

ha rmfu l contam i na nts. G iven the med ica l  cond it io ns o f  ce rta i n  q u a l ify i ng  

pat ients, certa i n  contam ina nts cou ld have a n  adverse i m pact on  the i r  hea l th .  

Rather  than  be i ng he lpfu l ,  the  ma r ij u ana  may be detr imenta l  to  them.  

• Contam i na nts cou ld  be i n  the g rowi ng med i u m, water, fe rt i l ize rs, o r  the seeds 
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o r  c l ones obta i ned fo r g rowi ng without  a reg iste red q u a l i fy ing  pat ient 

knowi n g  they ex ist .  S i nce the b i l l  does not add ress reg u l at ions  o n  where a n d  

how t h e  seeds o r  c lo nes a re o bta i n ed ,  there i s  a r isk they may be 

conta m i nated as we l l .  

With no  test i ng  req u i reme nts re l ated to potency, i n d iv id u a l s  u s i ng  se l f

g rown mar ijuana  a l so d o  not have 1 9 bo rato ry verif ied THC 

(tetra hyd roca n n a b i no l) amou nts. Wh i l e  marijuana  stra i ns have a typ ica l ra nge  

of THC, the actua l  THC i n  d ried l eaves o r  f lowers ca n va ry g reat ly depend i ng 

o n  g rowi ng  med i u ms, l ig hts, n utr ients, and  other cu lt ivat ion methodo log ies .  

Th is  may i m pact the effectiveness of the  use of marij u a n a  fo r med ica l 

pu rposes i f  the  TH C  percentag e  i s  s ig n if ica nt ly l ess tha n expected .  On  the  

other  ha nd ,  i f  the THC perce ntage  i s  s ig n if ica nt ly h i ghe r  than  expected, 

u n a nt i c i pated resu lts may occu r. For exa mp le, accord i ng  to the Centers for 

D isease Contro l  a n d  P revent ion ,  s ig ns  of us ing  too much  marij uana  may 

i n c l u d e  ext reme confus ion, a nx iety, pa ra no ia, pa n ic, fast heart rate, de l u s ions  

o r  ha l l uc i n at ions, i n c reased b lood p ressu re, and  severe na usea o r  vomit i n g .  

U nd e r  t h e  p rov i s ions  o f  the  b i l l , t h e  amou nt o f  d r ied l eaves or  flowers a 

reg istered q ua l ify i ng  pat ient  may possess doub les the cu rrent possess ion  

amou nt .  A reg iste red q u a l ify i n g  pat ient  cou ld st i l l  possess u p  to  th ree o u nces 

of d ried l eaves o r  flowers pu rc hased from a d i spensa ry as  we l l  as  the th ree 

ou nces from the i r se lf-g rown m a rij u a na .  Dou b l i ng possess ion  l i m its may lead 

to i n c reased abuses or m isuse  of marijuana u nder  the p rog ra m .  In add i t ion, 

• 

• 

s i nce se lf-g row marij u a n a  has  no packag i ng or  l abe l i n g  req u i rements, i t  may • 
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• 
be d ifficu lt to determ ine  if the  reg istered q u a l i fy i ng  pat ient  i s  i n  possess i o n  of 

se lf-g rown ma rij uana  o r  i l l eg a l ly pu rchased ma r ij u ana .  

Wh i l e  t he  proposed changes a l l ow a reg istered q ua l ify i ng pat i e nt to 

g row n i ne  ma rij uana  p l a nts, the  l eg a l  amount a l lowed i n  possess ion  is t h ree 

ounces. One marijua na p lant  may y ie ld  more tha n t h ree ou nces of d r ied l eaves 

a n d  flowers. It i s  u nc lea r how a reg istered q u a l i fy i ng  pat ient  wi l l  rema i n  wi th i n  

t he  possess ion l i m it when they h a rvest even one  p l a nt .  Th i s  too may lead to 

a n  i nc reased r i sk of d ivers io n .  

Extract ion  methods can i nvo lve va r ious  exp los ive materi a l s  a nd ,  i f  not 

done  correct ly, cou l d  lead to a concentrate with ha rmfu l chem ica l s  in it .  N i ne  

• 
se l f-g row marij uana  p l a nts may p rov ide enou g h  d ried l eaves a nd f lowers to 

m a ke a home extraction  process v ia b le  a nd we a re conce rned reg i ste red 

q u a l i fy ing pat ients may attem pt the i r own extract io n  p rocesses .  Home 

extract ions i nc rease r i sks fo r the  reg iste red q u a l i fy i ng  pat ient, those i n  the  

s ame  res idency and the pu b l ic .  U nder  the  cu r rent  l aws, the  a m o u nt of d ried 

l eaves and f lowers pu rchased wou ld not typ ica l ly be suffi c ient  to attem pt a 

home extract ion process. 

The cha nges in the b i l l  esta b l i s h  l im i ted to no  reg u lat io n  or req u i red 

m o n ito ri ng re l ated to se lf-g rown marij u a na .  O uts ide  of the p rovi s ion  of not 

g rowi ng with i n  1 ,000 feet of a schoo l  and u s i ng  an enc losed,  locked fac i l i ty, no 

add it iona l  req u i rements ex i st fo r se lf-g rowing up to n i ne m a r ij uana  p l a nts .  The 

• p l a nts co u ld  be g rown i n  m u lt i p l e  locat ions  o r  o n  va rious  p ro pe rt ies with no 
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means  to determ ine  what the tota l p l an t  count is fo r a reg istered qua l i fy i ng  

pat ient .  Th i s  cou ld  l ead  to  a n  i ncrease ri sk o f  d ive rs ion .  

Wh i l e  the b i l l  req u i res a n  enc losed, locked fac i l ity to  be used fo r se l f

g row, there i s  no mon ito r i ng  requ i rements of the fac i l i ty be i ng used .  Th u s, it i s  

u nc l ea r  how comp l ia nce with the requ i rements to use a n  enc losed, locked 

fac i l i ty wi l l  be accomp l i shed .  A lso, wh i l e  a reg istered qua l ify ing pat ient may 

have a l ock  on the door, there i s  st i l l  r i sk  fo r someone  with i n  the res idency, 

i nc l ud i ng  a ch i ld ,  to l ocate a key a nd access the room. 

The n u m ber  of p roposed p l ants a l lowed u nder  the p rovi s ions  of th i s  b i l l  

a l so c reates concerns .  M u lt i p l e  reg i stered qua l i fy i ng  pat ients may res ide  

• 

with i n  the same  home wh ich  potent i a l ly i nc reases the n u m ber  of p la nts i n  the 
• 

res i dency. The b i l l  does not add ress a maximum n umber  of p l a nts i n  one  

spec if ied l ocat ion .  The  b i l l  a l so does no t  specify how many o f  t he  p l a nts can 

be i mmatu re o r  matu re o r  p l ace a ny restr ict ions on the  s ize of a p l a nt. Th i s  

may lead reg istered q u a l i fy i ng  pat i ents to  g row very l a rge  p la nts .  Th i s  cou ld 

i nc rease the l i ke l i hood of mo ld ,  m i l dew, or  other  pro b lems with the p l a nts that 

cou l d  have a negat ive im pact on  a q u a l i fyi ng pat ient .  

Rega rd i ng pr i c i ng  of p roducts u nder the cu rrent Med ica l  Ma rijuana  

P rog ram, wh i l e  t he  Department o f  Hea l th  h a s  no reg u lat i ng autho rity o n  

pr ic i ng ,  we  wi l l  be mon itor i ng  pr ic i ng  a n d  mark- up  i nfo rmat ion .  

Manufactu r i ng  fac i l i t ies a nd d ispensa r ies a re req u i red by state l aw to have 

p l ans  fo r mak i ng  d ried l eaves a nd flowers a nd marij uana products ava i l a b l e  on  • 
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• 

• 

a n  affo rdab l e  bas is to reg istered q u a l ify i ng  pat ients with l i m ited fi na nc i a l 

resou rces. Each of the ent i t ies se l ected to be a reg i ste red manu factu r i ng  

fac i l i ty o r  d i spensary wi l l  b e  mon ito red to  ensu re com p l i a nce with th i s  

req u i rement. 

A l l owi ng se lf-g rown ma rij u ana  p l a nts u nde r  the  p rog ra m  may have a n  

i mpact o n  the manufactu ri ng  fac i l i t ies a nd d ispensa r ies .  I f  se l f-g row were to 

reduce demand,  the operat ions  of a manu factu r i ng  fac i l i ty or a d i spensa ry 

may be negat ive ly impacted . Th i s  may l ead  to pr ice i nc reases o r  impact the  

a b i l i ty o f  a manufactu ri ng fac i l i ty o r  d ispensa ry to  cont i n u e  to operate. A 

d i s pensa ry c los i ng  cou l d  negat ive ly i m pact access fo r reg iste red q ua l ify i n g  

pat ie nts who do not se l f-g row p la nts . 

The b i l l  appea rs to on ly a l l ow reg iste red qu a l i fy i ng  pat ients to se l f-g row 

ma rij uana  (Section  1 ,  L ines 1 4  and  1 5) .  However, Sect ion  4 a nd certa i n  othe r  

sect ions o f  t he  b i l l  appea r to  be  contrad icto ry to  th i s .  We  wou l d  l i ke to  c l a r ify 

whether a des ig nated ca reg iver cou l d  g row fo r o r  a ss i st a reg i ste red q u a l ify i ng 

pat ient  with g rowi ng .  I f  des ig nated ca reg ivers a re a l l owed to g row fo r u p  to 

f ive reg istered qua l ify ing pat ients, the Depa rtment of H ea lth  wou ld be 

concerned that a des ig nated ca reg ive r  cou ld be l ega l ly g rowi ng  u p  to 45 

p l a nts a nd in possess ion  of 30  ou nces of d r ied leaves o r  f lowers. 

The Department of Hea lth was req uested to p rovid e  a f isca l note 

re lated to Senate B i l l  2 1 34. No add it io na l  reg u la t ions  a re esta b l i s hed fo r the 

• se lf-g row prov i s ions  fo r the Depa rtment to mon itor o r  enfo rce. The b i l l  does 

5 



e l im i nate the req u i rement fo r a hea l th  care provide r  to author ize the use  of 

d r ied l eaves or flowe rs . Th is ,  i n  tu rn, wou ld e l im i nate the req u i rement fo r a 

reg ist ry ident if icat ion  ca rd to i nc l ude  whether the qua l ify ing pat ient i s  

a uthor ized fo r d ried l eaves o r  flowers .  Wh i l e  we wou ld need to have cha nges 

made  to the i nfo rmat ion  tech no logy system used fo r the prog ram, the 

Depa rtment  fee l s  the cost of these cha nges wou ld be m i n ima l .  

Th i s  conc l udes my  test i mony.  I a m  happy to  answer a ny q uestion·s you 

may have. 
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On Jan  16, 2019, at 7 :30  PM,  Ch ris No lden  <no lden278@ic loud . com> wrote : 

Senator, 

My name is Ch r is No l den . I testified today i n  the comm ittee hea ri ng .  

There seemed to be a l ot of  questions  you  a l l  had ,  tha t  were l eft tota l ly u nanswered . I 

wou ld  l i ke to try to attempt to answer them .  

I t  seemed as though there was some confus ion as t o  what Senator 0 .  La rsen  was try ing 

to descr ibe as a "fi ngerpri nt" on the ca nnab is .  

I am  fa i r ly certa i n  he  was tryi ng to descr ibe what i s  known i n  the i n d ustry as a "seed to 

sa le" track ing system .  These a re on ly used if the p roduct is  to be so ld  from the 

ca regive rs and d ispensa r ies .  In  the systems l i ke Monta na ,  a person who chooses to grow 

the i r  own; ca n not se l l  i t, that wou ld  be i l lega l .  

O ne  o f  t h e  questions  revo lved a round  some word i ng on  Page 7 l i n e  2 .  

I be l ieve Senato rs 0 .  La rsen's i ntent, wou l d  have been to  have i t  read  "Al l  adu lt pat ients 

a re authorized use of d ried leaves or  flowers of the p l ant  of the gen us ca n n ab is in a 

combust i b l e  de l ive ry form to treat o r  a l l ev iate the patients deb i l i tat i ng  med ica l  

cond it ion" .  

U s i ng  th i s  log ic, then  the  stri keth rough on  Page 8 l i n e  1 makes sense, as  it wou l d  j ust be  

red undant .  

I fee l  it i s  i mporta nt that  you know, the flowers a re the most natu ra l  form of th i s  

med i c i ne .  The f lower does not need to  be combusted to benefit from the very effective 

therapeut ic  benefits .  

In the hosp ita l s, a nd  l ong  term hea l th ca re fac i l i t ies in I s rae l  they va porize flower. The re 

is no combust ion i nvo lved . 

It is a fa i r ly s imp l e  gadget, where the pat ient p l aces a l i tt l e  b i t  of c rushed flower i nto a 

tray. It then heats it to a predeterm i ned temperatu re to be ab l e  to u n lock a l l  of the 

benefi c i a l  pa rts of the  p l a nt, with zero combust ion i nvo lved . 

At some po int  there was ta l k  of peop le  gett i ng  torches out  a nd  t ry i ng  to b u rn wet 

flower. I ca n ass u re you th i s  cou ld n't be fa rther  from rea l ity. 

Also, by th i s  log ic, a l l  of the approved med ic i ne  i s  combust i b l e .  



It is cruc ia l  to rea l i ze he re, the goa l of se lf growing ca nnab is, i s  to grow its f lower. The 

la nguage cha nges to a l l ow a l l  a du lt pat ients to have access to the fl ower, I fee l  cou ld 

a lso be very benefi c i a l  to the program .  

Peop le l i ke t o  have some cho ices .  D iffe rent va r iat ions o r  "stra i ns" have d ifferent affects, 

the refore, work bette r or worse for some cond it ions .  

Many want access to the  most natu ra l  form they ca n get it i n , and that  wou l d  be to grow 

it, j ust as growing the food in a ga rden .  

There were some questions, a nd  object ions  to amounts and  p l a nt cou nts . I a l so be l ieve 

th i s  needs some work, however fee l  there is very workab le, easy so l ut ions .  

Such as ,  it shou ld  be l ega l for you to keep what you grow. Any amount over the set 

amount of 3 ounces, cou ld  have a req u i rement to be locked u p .  

No o ne  that wa nts t o  be i n  th i s  p rogram, and  actua l ly make i t  work, wou l d  want to do  

a nyth i ng i l l ega l with it, i n  fea r o f  los ing t h e  ab i l ity to do it .  

However, they wou ld  need to be ab l e  to store it .  There i s  crop cyc les to cons ider, 

poss ib le  crop fa i l u re a n d  such . 

When it comes to p l an t  cou nt, it gets a l i tt l e  tr ickier .  Once aga i n, I fee l  there a re 

legit imate ways to go a bout th is, however a re b it much to type i n  a n  ema i l , beca use it's 

pretty comp lex, a nd  at some leve l w i l l  a l so req u i re some cha nges to the  ca regiver, 

product ion,  a nd  d ispensa ry system .  

Th is certa i n ly wou l d  ta ke a b it  o f  h a rd work, a nd  co l l a borat ion o f  many, though I do not 

fee l  l i ke it wou l d  be i m poss ib l e  e i ther. 

Al so, as fa r as system i mp lementat ion goes, a nd  how long it has  ta ken to ro l l  out .  I n  J u ly 

of 2018, Ok l ahoma lega l i zed med ic i n a l  ca nnab is .  

Today is the J a nua ry 16th,  and they a re fu l ly u p  and ru nn i ng .  Peop le  have ca rds, product 

is  go i ng out, the peop le  seem pretty happy with it so fa r. 

They obvious ly d i d  some th i ngs right as we l l , especia l ly when it comes to cert ifi cat ion 

and rec ip rocity. 

Tha nk  you aga i n, fo r you r  t ime .  If you have a ny other quest ions  I ca n he l p  you with let 

me know. 

Ki nd ly, 

Ch ris No lden 
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Exec utive Summary 

Colorado's state laws lega l iz ing marijuana do  not l im it how much mar ijuana can be g rown with i n  a pr ivate 

residence .  Further, there is no mechan ism at the state- level to document or reg u late home g rows , even 

la rge ones .  Th is  has led to a prol iferation of  la rge-sca le marijuana g row operat ions i n  hundreds of  homes 

throughout the state .  M u ch of the marijuana produced in  la rge home g rows is sh ipped out of  Colorado and 

so ld i n  markets where i t  commands a h igh  pr ice.  

Although  g rowing a l a rge  number of marijuana p lants with i n  private res idences can fa l l  with i n  the parameters of 
state law, it presents potentia l  r isk to the occupants , homeowners , and neighbors of these residences , as we l l  

as t o  fi rst responders who are ca l led t o  them . Marij uana  g rows often cause extens ive damage to  the houses 

where they are mai nta ined and are increas ing ly  the causes of house fi res ,  b lown e lectr ica l transformers, and 

enviro n mental damage. Much l i ke the "meth houses" of the 1 990s ,  many of these h omes may u ltimate ly be 

rendered un i nhabitab le .  

DETAI LS 

Colorado's lega l izat ion of medica l  marij uana  and recreationa l  marijuana by voter referendum set the stage 

for unfettered marijuana production  i n  the state . Both Amendment 20 and Amendment 64 conta in  loopho les 

that a l low for l a rge marij uana  grows with in  pr ivate res idences. Although the State of Co lorado created the 

Marijuana E nforcement Div is ion (ME D)-a regu latory body fo r l icensed marij uana  bus inesses-the M ED does 

not have authority to regu late home g rows . 

.------------.. Access to medica l  marijuana became  every Co loradan 's  constitutiona l  
According to the Colorado 
Department of Public Health 
and Environment, in January 
20 16  there were 8, 2 10  medical 
marijuana patients in Colorado 
with physician recommendations 
to grow 50 to 99 plants. If each 
patient grew 50 plants, that 
equals 4 1 0, 000 marijuana plants. 

From each plant, they would 
likely harvest 1 pound of finished 
marijuana every 90 days. That is 
1 .  64 million pounds of harvested 
marijuana per year. 

right  in November 2000 when voters approved Amendment 20 .  

Amendment 20 a l l ows pat ients to possess s ix marij uana p lants , un less a 

physic ian recommends more .  As of 20 1 6 , physic ian recommendat ions 

fo r 75 to 99 p lants are commonly used to justify large residentia l g rows, 

many of wh ich produce mar ij uana for sa le outs ide the state . I n  January 

20 1 6 , there were 1 07 , 798 medica l  mar ij uana  reg istry patients . Of those , 

rough ly  8 percent (8 ,2 1 0  patients) had phys ician  recommendat ions for 50 

to 99 p lants . 1 Notably, i n  January 20 1 4 ,  when cu ltivation  and possession 

of recreationa l  marijuana became lega l  under state l aw, there were more 

overa l l  med ical  marijuana patients ( 1 1 0 ,979) ,  but fewer with e levated 

plant counts of 50 or  more p lants (5 ,308) .2 

As of M arch 201 6 ,  there is not a state-imposed l im it on either the number  

of  p lants a physician  may recommend for a medica l  marijuana patient 

or  on the nu mber of p lants a patient may g row in a pr ivate residence. I n  

May 201 5 , state leg is lat ion was passed that l im ited med ica l  marijuana patients t o  g rowi ng 99 p lants on  pr ivate 

property-it wi l l  take effect Janua ry 20 1 7 . 3 

Amendment 64 a l l ows any adu lt 2 1  years o ld  o r  o lder  i n  Co lo rado to cu ltivate u p  to s ix p lants.  

I t  further a l l ows for the possession of a l l  marij uana  prod uced by those p lants , provided the marijuana rema ins 

i n  the enc losed res idence and is not  sol d . 4 Amendment 64 a lso a l l ows any adu lt i n  Co lorado to  "assist" a ny 

other adu lt in Colorado i n  " possess i ng ,  g rowi ng ,  process ing , or t ransporting" h is/her marijuana . 5 Consequent ly, 

la rge g rows a nd/or quantit ies of processed mar ij uana with i n  a res idence a re often justified through the c la im 

2 
UNCLASSIF IED 

I It {p 



UNCLASSIFIED  

Residentia l Marijuana Grows in Colorado: The New Meth Houses? 

that the resident is ass isting others by 

g rowing o r  stor ing their  marij uana .  As there 

is no mechan ism at the state o r  loca l  level to 

document or regu late recreationa l  ma rijuana 

home g rows, there is n o  pract ical  means for 

local po l i ce to verify whose plants are g rown 

or whose marijuana is  stored in any given 

res idence. 

Some local governments have begun to p lace 

l im its on the number of p lants that can be 

g rown i n  p rivate res idences . However, such 

local  ord i nances a re widely varied and rarely 

effectively enfo rced . 

As a resu lt of the permissiveness of 

Co lo rado 's medica l  and recreationa l  

mar ij uana laws, the system is extensively 

explo ited by traffickers who operate l a rge 

mar ij uana g rows that supply out-of-state 

markets . S i nce 20 1 4 ,  there has been a 

not iceable increase i n  organized networks of 

soph ist icated residentia l  g rows in Colorado 

that are o rchestrated and operated by d rug 

traffick ing o rgan izations .  These o rgan izations 

operate hund reds of large-scale home g rows 

th roughout Colorado .  Harvested mar ijuana i s  

sh i pped o r  tra nsported from Colorado to  markets i n  the Midwest and a long the 

East Coast . 6 

Source :  DEA 

I ndoor marij uana  p lants can g row as tal l  as 6 feet or  more and y ie ld  more than a pound of  ha rvested marij uana 

every 90 days. G rowin g  them requ i res specific cond i t ions that consume h igh  levels of  e lectrica l  power 

and water and resu lts i n  the d ra inage of chemica l- laden waste water. Grow rooms must be mai ntai ned at 

tem peratures between 7 1  and  80 degrees Fahrenheit. At certa i n  t imes du ri ng  the growing cycle ,  p lants m ust 

rema i n  under h i g h-power g row l ig hts for 24 hours a day. Ferti l izers and pest ic ides-sometimes harsh ones

a re req u i red to grow robust and healthy p lants.  At t imes in the growing cycle ,  each p lant can requ i re 3 or more 

ga l l ons  of water per day. 

Local po l ice departments often receive numerous ca l ls  from neighbors about marij uana g row houses.  

Common compla ints i nclude strong odors ,  excess ive no ise from i ndustria l  a i r-cond it ion ing  un its , blown 

e lectrica l  transformers ,  and heavy veh i cle traffic .  

Co lorado homes where mar ij uana is g rown often susta i n  extens ive structural damage.  Mo isture,  

condensati on ,  and molds spread throughout the res idence.  G rowers often cut ho les i n  floors and exter ior wa l ls  

i n  order to i nsta l l  venti lat ion tubes. G rowers often tamper with e lectrica l  systems i n  o rder to supp ly m u ltip le 

h igh-power g row l ights and ind ustr ia l  a i r-cond ition ing un its . These a lterat ions a re often done by tenant g rowers 

with l itt le regard fo r fire r isk or the home's structura l  i nteg rity. Th is is an i ncreas ing concern for fi rst responders. 
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Source :  DEA 

FIGURE 2. Do- 1 1 - YouRSELF VeNmAnoN 1 N  A 

COLORADO GRow H ouse 

Altered e lectr ica l  systems with loose and 

entang led wi res , flammable fert i l izers and 

chemica ls ,  exp los ive materia ls  such as 

propane and butane ,  o r  ho les cut  i nto s ub

floors for venting a l l  pose clea r hazards to 

fi refig hters or po l ice officers respond ing to 

the res idence in an emergency s ituati on .  

Outlook 

Add ing to the l i st of un intended 

consequences of marij uana lega l izat ion 

i n  Co lorado ,  the prol i ferat ion  of large 

res identia l g rows i s  taxi ng local  pol i ce and 

fi re departments, consum ing  power and 

water resou rces , and potent ia l ly affect ing 

home va lues i n  commun ities throughout 

the state . Fu rther, the ab i l ity to estab l i sh  

l a rge-sca le mar ijuana g row operati ons 

with in  res ident ia l  homes under the gu ise 

of state law wi l l  l i kely conti nue to attract 

d rug  traffickers and crim ina l  organ izations .  

Thus ,  Co lorado w i l l  conti nue  to be a sou rce 

for m uch of the mar ij uana  destined fo r 

markets in other  states .  

1 Colorado Department o f  Pub l ic Health a nd  Environment , January 20 1 6 . 

2 I b id .  

3 Colorado Senate B i l l  1 5-0 1 4 , passed May 20 1 5 . 

4 Colorado Constitution .  Article 1 8 , Section 1 6, Subsection 3(b) .  

5 Colorado Constitution .  Article 1 8 , Section 1 6, Subsection 3(e) .  

6 DEA Denver Div is ion I nvestigative Reporting . 2 0 1 6; extracted information is :  (U ) ;  overa l l  document c lassification is : ( U ) . 

This prod uct was prepared by the DEA Denver Division .  Comments and questions may be 
addressed to the Ch ief, Analysis and Production Section at dea .ons i@usdoi.gov. 
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The Deputy Attorney General 

FROM: James M. Cole 
Deputy Attorney 

U.S. Department of Justice 

Office of the Deputy Attorney General 

Ubshingron, D.C. 20530 

August 29, 20 1 3  

SUBJECT: Guidance Regarding Marijuana Enforcement 

In October 2009 and June 20 1 I ,  the Department issued guidance to federal prosecutors 
concerning marijuana enforcement under the Controlled Substances Act (CSA). This 
memorandum updates that guidance in light of state ballot initiatives that legalize under state law 
the possession of small amounts of marijuana and provide for the regulation of marijuana 
production, processing, and sale. The guidance set forth herein applies to all federal enforcement 
activity, including civil enforcement and criminal investigations and prosecutions, concerning 
marijuana in all states .  

As the Department noted in its previous guidance, Congress has determined that 
marijuana is a dangerous drug and that the illegal distribution and sale of marijuana is a serious 
crime that provides a significant source of revenue to large-scale criminal enterprises, gangs, and 
cartels .  The Department of Justice is committed to enforcement of the CSA consistent with 
those determinations. The Department is also committed to using its limited investigative and 
prosecutorial resources to address the most significant threats in the most effective, consistent, 
and rational way. In furtherance of those objectives, as several states enacted laws relating to the 
use of marijuana for medical purposes, the Department in recent years has focused its efforts on 
certain enforcement priorities that are particularly important to the federal government: 

• Preventing the distribution of marijuana to minors; 
• Preventing revenue from the sale of marijuana from going to criminal enterprises, gangs, 

and cartels; 
• Preventing the diversion of marijuana from states where it is legal under state law in 

some form to other states; 
• Preventing state-authorized marijuana activity from being used as a cover or pretext for 

the trafficking of other il legal drugs or other illegal activity; 
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• Preventing violence and the use of firearms in the cultivation and distribution of

marijuana;

• Preventing drugged driving and the exacerbation of other adverse public health

consequences associated with marijuana use;

Page 2 

• Preventing the growing of marijuana on public lands and the attendant public safety and

environmental dangers posed by marijuana production on public lands; and
• Preventing marijuana possession or use on federal property.

These priorities will continue to guide the Department's  enforcement of the CSA against
marijuana-related conduct. Thus, this memorandum serves as guidance to Department attorneys 
and law enforcement to focus their enforcement resources and efforts, including prosecution, on 
persons or organizations whose conduct interferes with any one or more of these priorities, 
regardless of state law. 1 

Outside of these enforcement priorities, the federal government has traditionally relied on 
states and local law enforcement agencies to address marijuana activity through enforcement of 
their own narcotics laws. For example, the Department of Justice has not historically devoted 
resources to prosecuting individuals whose conduct is limited to possession of small amounts of 
marijuana for personal use on private property. Instead, the Department has left such lower-level 
or localized activity to state and local authorities and has stepped in to enforce the CSA only 
when the use, possession, cultivation, or distribution of marijuana has threatened to cause one of 
the harms identified above. 

The enactment of state laws that endeavor to authorize marijuana production, 
distribution, and possession by establishing a regulatory scheme for these purposes affects this 
traditional joint federal-state approach to narcotics enforcement. The Department's  guidance in 
this memorandum rests on its expectation that states and local governments that have enacted 
laws authorizing marijuana-related conduct will implement strong and effective regulatory and 
enforcement systems that wil l  address the threat those state laws could pose to public safety, 
public health, and other law enforcement interests .  A system adequate to that task must not only 
contain robust controls and procedures on paper; it must also be effective in practice. 
Jurisdictions that have implemented systems that provide for regulation of marijuana activity 

1 These enforcement priorities are listed in general terms; each encompasses a variety of conduct 
that may merit civil or criminal enforcement of the CSA. By way of example only, the 
Department' s interest in preventing the distribution of marijuana to minors would call for 
enforcement not just when an individual or entity sells or transfers marijuana to a minor, but also 
when marijuana trafficking takes place near an area associated with minors; when marijuana or 
marijuana-infused products are marketed in a manner to appeal to minors; or when marijuana is 
being diverted, directly or indirectly, and purposefully or otherwise, to minors. 
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must provide the necessary resources and demonstrate the willingness to enforce their laws and 
regulations in a manner that ensures they do not undermine federal enforcement priorities. 

In jurisdictions that have enacted laws legalizing marijuana in some form and that have 
also implemented strong and effective regulatory and enforcement systems to control the 
cultivation, distribution, sale, and possession of marijuana, conduct in compliance with those 
laws and regulations is less likely to threaten the federal priorities set forth above. Indeed, a 
robust system may affirmatively address those priorities by, for example, implementing effective 
measures to prevent diversion of marijuana outside of the regulated system and to other states, 
prohibiting access to marijuana by minors, and replacing an illicit marijuana trade that funds 
criminal enterprises with a tightly regulated market in which revenues are tracked and accounted 
for. In those circumstances, consistent with the traditional allocation of federal-state efforts in 
this area, enforcement of state law by state and local law enforcement and regulatory bodies 
should remain the primary means of addressing marijuana-related activity. If state enforcement 
efforts are not sufficiently robust to protect against the harms set forth above, the federal 
government may seek to chal lenge the regulatory structure itself in addition to continuing to 
bring individual enforcement actions, including criminal prosecutions, focused on those harms. 

The Department' s  previous memoranda specifically addressed the exercise of 
prosecutorial discretion in states with laws authorizing marijuana cultivation and distribution for 
medical use. In those contexts, the Department advised that it likely was not an efficient use of 
federal resources to focus enforcement efforts on seriously ill individuals, or on their individual 
caregivers . In doing so, the previous guidance drew a distinction between the seriously ill and 
their caregivers, on the one hand, and large-scale, for-profit commercial enterprises, on the other, 
and advised that the latter continued to be appropriate targets for federal enforcement and 
prosecution. In drawing this distinction, the Department relied on the common-sense judgment 
that the size of a marijuana operation was a reasonable proxy for assessing whether marijuana 
trafficking implicates the federal enforcement priorities set forth above. 

As explained above, however, both the existence of a strong and effective state regulatory 
system, and an operation's  compliance with such a system, may allay the threat that an 
operation's  size poses to federal enforcement interests . Accordingly, in exercising prosecutorial 
discretion, prosecutors should not consider the size or commercial nature of a marijuana 
operation alone as a proxy for assessing whether marijuana trafficking implicates the 
Department ' s  enforcement priorities listed above. Rather, prosecutors should continue to review 
marijuana cases on a case-by-case basis and weigh all available information and evidence, 
including, but not limited to, whether the operation is demonstrably in compliance with a strong 
and effective state regulatory system. A marijuana operation' s  large scale or for-profit nature 
may be a relevant consideration for assessing the extent to which it undermines a particular 
federal enforcement priority. The primary question in all cases - and in all jurisdictions - should 
be whether the conduct at issue implicates one or more of the enforcement priorities listed above. 
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As with the Department' s previous statements on this subject, this memorandum is 
intended solely as a guide to the exercise of investigative and prosecutorial discretion. This 
memorandum does not alter in any way the Department's authority to enforce federal law, 
including federal laws relating to marijuana, regardless9 of state law. Neither the guidance herein 
nor any state or local law provides a legal defense to a violation of federal law, including any 
civil or criminal violation of the CSA. Even in jurisdictions with strong and effective regulatory 
systems, evidence that particular conduct threatens federal priorities will subject that person or 
entity to federal enforcement action, based on the circumstances. This memorandum is not 
intended to, does not, and may not be relied upon to create any rights, substantive or procedural, 
enforceable at law by any party in any matter civil or criminal . It applies prospectively to the 
exercise of prosecutorial discretion in future cases and does not provide defendants or subjects of 
enforcement action with a basis for reconsideration of any pending c ivil action or criminal 
prosecution. Finally, nothing herein precludes investigation or prosecution, even in the absence 
of any one of the factors listed above, in particular circumstances where investigation and 
prosecution otherwise serves an important federal interest. 

cc: Mythili Raman 
Acting Assistant Attorney General, Criminal Division 

Loretta E. Lynch 
United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 
Chair, Attorney General' s  Advisory Committee 

Michele M. Leonhart 
Administrator 
Drug Enforcement Administration 

H. Marshall Jarrett 
Director 
Executive Office for United States Attorneys 

Ronald T. Hosko 
Assistant Director 
Criminal Investigative Division 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
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